Examining the association between cycling infrastructure exposure and physical activity: A Natural experiment study in Victoria, Canada

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Kinesiology

By

Jonathan Slaney

Master of Science in Kinesiology

Memorial University of Newfoundland

2021

St. John's, Newfoundland & Labrador

Supervisor: Dr. Daniel Fuller

School of Human Kinetics and Recreation

Abstract

Background: Most Canadians are not meeting physical activity guidelines. Physical inactivity is an epidemic related to alarming rates of preventable disease and economic burden. Health benefits ensue from modest increases in physical activity (i.e., 5 minutes daily). Despite the health benefits, there is limited evidence about interventions to increase physical activity at the population level. Built environment interventions, like bicycle infrastructure, are one understudied intervention with the potential to increase total population physical activity. The purpose of this study was to examine the physical activity impacts of bicycle infrastructure. *Intervention:* The intervention studied is the All Ages and Abilities (AAA) Cycling Network in Victoria, BC. This network of bicycle infrastructure is a \$7.75M commitment. In 2018, a 5.4km grid of protected cycle tracks was built downtown.

Research Design: Adults were recruited in Victoria who ride bicycles at least monthly. Baseline activity data were recorded in 2017 (n = 281) using surveys, Global Positioning System (GPS), and accelerometer data, with a follow-up data collection in 2019 (n = 315). The primary outcome was moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA), assessed via accelerometer data. *Hypothesis:* Exposure to new active transportation infrastructure will be associated with increased MVPA over time.

Analysis: I calculated exposure measures to the AAA Cycling Network using GPS and Geographic Information System using intersections. I used regression models to examine the associations between exposure to new infrastructure and total location-based physical activity levels, controlling for confounders.

Results: In the multilevel models analyzing the interaction between exposure and wave with covariates, wave two, compared to wave one, saw a non-statistically significant increase in

MVPA of 0.93 minutes per week [CI = -5.28, 7.14]. Comparing the models with and without covariates suggests that the wave one and wave two comparisons were highly confounded by individual and weather covariates.

General Summary

Most Canadians are not physically active. Physical inactivity is related to alarming rates of preventable illness. The INTErventions, Research and Action in Cities Team (INTERACT), aims to advance research on the design of healthy and sustainable cities for all. My study is a subproject of INTERACT, collecting location and activity data from participants in Victoria, BC. The objective of my study was to examine the association between new cycling infrastructure and MVPA. I hypothesized that exposure to the All Ages and Abilities (AAA) network would increase MVPA. In wave one, 281 people were recruited in 2017: with 149 participating in mobile sensing data collection for ten days. Wave two occurred in 2019 and involved 315 people: with 153 participating in mobile activity sensing. I calculated exposure to the new cycling infrastructure during wave one and wave two by counting the number location points that are within a buffer of the new bike lanes. After analyzing the interaction between exposure and wave with covariates, wave two, compared to wave one, saw a non-statistically significant increase in MVPA of 0.93 minutes per week [CI = -5.28, 7.14]. Implementing the AAA cycling network using separated, safe bike lanes, street beautification, and linking neighbourhoods with new activity spaces may increase MVPA in the city of Victoria.

Keywords: Bicycle lane, active transportation infrastructure, population physical activity, cycling.

Acknowledgments

Completing my master's degree at Memorial is only possible due to the incredible support network surrounding me. The School of Human Kinetics and Recreation staff and students were instrumental in my study success. In addition, my supervisor, friends, and family provided the support I needed during uncertain times in a pandemic. Despite the disruption that our public health system has experienced, I could not have chosen a better supervisor for my studies. Thank you, Dr. Daniel Fuller, for the incredible support, flexibility, inspiration, and leadership. As a member of Dr. Fuller's Built Environment and Active Populations laboratory at Memorial, I have obtained vital critical analysis, research, and problem-solving skills that I will use during my future career.

As a member of the INTErventions, Research, and Action in Cities Team (INTERACT), I had the exciting opportunity to contribute to a massive population health natural experiment. Working with a Pan-Canadian team of researchers has provided invaluable skills for my future career. I owe a huge thank you to everyone at team INTERACT for allowing me to play my part in increasing population physical activity and building healthy cities. This project would not have been possible without the incredible support and understanding from my supervisor Dr. Daniel Fuller. In addition to Dr. Fuller, Dr. Meghan Winters and Dr. Fabien Basset were kind enough to provide me with valuable feedback and support when it was needed most during my masters. Thank you to my committee; without you, this entire thesis would not be possible. With innovation and adaptability from team INTERACT, all my work was completed remotely.

Lastly, a big thank you to all primary health care providers, essential services workers, and the public health team in Newfoundland and Canada. We were all able to stay safe thanks to

those on the front lines during the pandemic that we are experiencing. I am inspired by all these people to become a primary care physician and continue with population health research.

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant demographics from the INTERACT cohort, a sample of residents who cycled at least once per month in Victoria, BC, Canada

Table 2. Participant demographics from the Sensedoc subsample, a sample of residents who cycled at least once per month in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Table 3. Difference in differences regression analyses examining the association between absolute exposure to the AAA bicycle network and wave with moderate to vigorous physical activity.

Table 4. Absolute exposure to AAA Cycling Network with 70m buffer regressed on MVPA without covariates in quintiles.

Table 5. Difference in differences regression analyses examining the association between relative exposure to the AAA bicycle network and wave with moderate to vigorous physical activity.

Table 6. Relative exposure to AAA Cycling Network with 70m buffer regressed on MVPA without covariates in quintiles

Table 7. Absolute exposure to AAA Cycling Network for three different buffer zones regressed on MVPA

Table 8. Relative exposure to AAA Cycling Network for three different buffer zones regressed on MVPA

List of Figures

Figure 1. INTERACT AAA Victoria timeline

Figure 2. Team INTERACT data collection methods

Figure 3. AAA Cycling Network Implementation Map 2019

Figure 4. Buffer zone examples adapted from Lee and Kwan⁷⁶

Figure 5. Causal diagram

Figure 6. Histogram of Minutes of Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity per Day in Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 7. Scatterplot of Minutes of Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity per Day over time in Wave 1 and Wave 2.

Figure 8. Histogram of absolute exposed to AAA Cycling Network at Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 9. Histogram of relative exposed to AAA Cycling Network at Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 10. Scatterplot of Absolute Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network in Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 11. Scatterplot of Relative Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network in Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 12. Scatterplot of Absolute Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network. Notes. Red points are non-exposed and blue points are exposed. Black lines represent the AAA cycling infrastructure.

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation:	Meaning:	
AAA	All Ages and Abilities Cycling Network	
GPS	Global Positioning System	
INTERACT	INTErventions, Research and Action in Cities Team	
НММ	Hidden Markov Model	
GIS	Geographic Information System	
MVPA	Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity	
PR	Prompted Recall	
NN	Neural Network	
BBN	Bayesian Belief Network	
ArcGIS	Geographic Information System software	
SVM	Support Vector Machine	
VERITAS	Visualization, Evaluation and Recording of Itineraries and Activity Spaces	
IPAQ	International Physical Activity Questionnaire	
R language	Computer programming language	
GGIR	Accelerometer data analysis package	

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
General Summary	iv
Acknowledgments	v
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.2 Relationship between thesis and larger research project	3
1.3 Purpose	4
1.4 Research Hypothesis	4
1.5 Thesis Format	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	6
2.0 Introduction	6
2.1 Exposure to Safe Active Transportation Infrastructure	7
2.2 Empirical results from cycling infrastructure studies	9
2.3 GPS and Physical Activity Methods	12
2.5 Research Question and Hypothesis	13
Chapter 3: Methods	14
3.0 Overview	14
3.1 Study Design and Intervention	15
3.2 Data Collection Protocol	16
3.3 Sample, Measures, and Exposure	19
3.4 Statistical Analysis	22
Chapter 4: Results	25
4.0 Total Sample	25
4.1 Sensedoc Subsample	26
4.2 Physical Activity	29
4.3 Exposure Measure	
4.5 Difference in Differences Multilevel Models	35
4.6 Buffer Zone Sensitivity Analysis	39
Chapter 5: Summary	
5.2 Limitations	
5.4 Contributions	46

5.3 Conclusion	
Bibliography	
Appendix A: Research Ethics Certification	
Appendix B: Survey Questions for assessing confounding	
Appendix C: Comparison between city samples and 2016 Canadian Census socio-demographic characteristics	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Urban centers are home to 82% of the Canadian population, where physical inactivity is endemic.^{1,2} In Canada, self-report data suggest that 60% of the population meet physical activity guidelines of 150 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per week.³ The global cost of physical inactivity is \$67.5 billion, with an estimated 13.4 million disability-adjusted life years lost.⁴ Physical inactivity is the world's fourth greatest risk factor for non-communicable disease, responsible for 9% of premature mortality and 6-10% of coronary heart disease, diabetes, and breast and colon cancers.^{5,6} Canadian urban centers are presently car-centric, lacking safe and equitable access to cycling infrastructure.^{5,7–9} Bicycle to work mode share among Canadians living in urban areas has increased slightly from 1.2% in 1996 to 1.6% in 2006.¹⁰ While this upward trend is encouraging, this statistic does not account for unemployed or rural populations.^{10,11} Evidence is needed from research examining the impact of urban form interventions on Canadians' physical activity. Building safe, accessible cycling infrastructure can increase daily physical activity levels,^{12–17} which can have important population-level health and economic benefits.^{4,18,19}

One health improvement strategy is facilitating the uptake of active transportation in our urban centers. Countries with the lowest prevalence of chronic conditions have high active transportation-related physical activity levels.^{20,21} Existing knowledge from currently available research was primarily conducted in Australia, the United Kingdom, or the United States.^{14–16,22–25} Karmeniemi and colleagues reviewed 21 prospective cohort studies and 30 natural experiment studies related to built environment interventions and physical activity. Of the 51 studies included in the review five studies used accelerometer data and nine used GPS.¹³ Natural experiments allow the investigation of health outcomes based upon exposure to new active

transportation infrastructure over time.^{26,27} A strength of natural experiments is observing physical activity without direct alteration or manipulation by the experimenter.^{15,23,28,29} The review supports that new infrastructure, aesthetics, and safety were significant determinants of physical activity.¹³ The high-quality evidence identified in the study showed that changes in the built environment were associated with increased physical activity. Overall, the results showed positive associations between new infrastructure and cycling participation in nine studies, while six studies showed no association, and one study found a negative association.

Here I review in detail the studies that have been published examining a natural experiment and using accelerometer or GPS data. Examples of specific studies using GPS and accelerometer data include Dill et al. and Heesch et al.^{30,31} Dill and colleagues²⁴ evaluated the effect of installing new bicycle boulevards on physical activity levels. GPS and accelerometer data is best used in combination because these data provide both information on the intensity of physical activity and the location where activity took place. The Oregon-based team used GPS and accelerometer data to measure physical activity change but did not identify increased active transportation or physical activity levels.²⁴ Dill et al.²⁴ found a negative correlation between total cycling minutes and exposure to new infrastructure. This finding may be because the participants' exposure to the new cycling infrastructure created a more direct route for downtown commuting, potentially explaining the negative association.²⁴ Heesch and colleagues²⁵ studied a new bicycle boulevard in Australia via a planned natural experiment study. GPS and survey data suggest that cyclists using the shared path travelled longer distances per trip and increased cycling-related physical activity.²⁵ The population with the most important change in cycling was primarily adult males, which indicates that the intervention did not attract a greater diversity of people to cycling.

There has been limited research examining the association between new cycling infrastructure and physical activity using GPS and accelerometer data. These studies suggest that when using GPS and accelerometers, several limitations require consideration. First, researchers should measure more prolonged periods of activity and track participants for more extended periods after completing the intervention. For example, Dill et al.,²⁴ only measured activity for five days and measured behaviour within months after the intervention was complete. Second, researchers should aim to collect representative samples of the cycling community. For example, Heesch et al.,³¹ obtained GPS data from Strava³², limiting the study population to those using this application. Finally, researchers should consider the type of infrastructure. Dill et al. found a negative association between the infrastructure and physical activity because of shortened commute times. Heesch et al.,³¹ interventions included a longer path designed for uninterrupted trips. The nature of these different infrastructures should be considered when evaluating the effect of new infrastructure on physical activity. These limitations are addressed in the present study, using a comprehensive bicycle network suited to all ages and abilities.

1.2 Relationship between thesis and larger research project

Current evidence, found in three recent systematic reviews, supports a positive relationship between cycling infrastructure interventions and physical activity.^{13,15,33} Increases in physical activity reduce premature death and economic burden from excess healthcare expenses.⁶ However, there is limited evidence evaluating the potential population physical activity change resulting from building new cycling infrastructure in Canadian cities, particularly from natural experiment longitudinal research using GPS and accelerometers. This study incorporates and builds upon lessons learned from research in these non-Canadian countries. I am contributing to filling this gap in the literature with a sub-study of a larger research project called The

INTErventions, Research and Action in Cities Team (INTERACT). INTERACT is a \$2M Canadian Institutes of Health Research funded project.^{29,34} INTERACT has the goal of advancing research on the design of healthy and sustainable cities for everyone.²⁹ My study examined whether building new cycling infrastructure is associated with changes in MVPA in a Canadian city. Specifically, I assessed whether new infrastructure additions to the All Ages and Abilities (AAA) Cycling Network in Victoria, BC, are associated with changes in residents' MVPA over three years.²⁹ The AAA Cycling Network³⁵ is a \$7.75M project of separated cycling infrastructure connecting a 5.4km grid in the downtown core.²⁹

1.3 Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the interaction between exposure to new infrastructure, time, and physical activity. This interaction was examined to understand how MVPA changes throughout the AAA Victoria natural experiment. Specifically, the first objective was to determine if exposure to the new Pandora Avenue, Fort Street, Wharf Street, and Johnson Street bicycle lanes increased physical activity levels. The second objective was completing a time-based comparison of the interaction between exposure to safe cycling infrastructure and the wave of data collection. Exposure was defined as the percentage of participants' GPS points within a 70-meter buffer of the four intervention bicycle lanes. The interaction between exposure to new infrastructure and wave was examined to understand how physical activity level changed throughout the AAA Victoria natural experiment.

1.4 Research Hypothesis

I hypothesized that the active transportation infrastructure would increase MVPA due to increased active transportation engagement associated with exposure to new sections of the AAA

Cycling Network. I hypothesize a net increase in physical activity (minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA)) compared to baseline data from wave one analysis in 2017.

1.5 Thesis Format

My thesis proposal follows a chapter style format, as outlined by the Memorial University Thesis Guidelines revised in 2020. This thesis presents five chapters. Chapter 1 provides a brief overview of the literature, research questions, and hypotheses. Chapter 2 is a complete literature review. Chapter 3 provides the methods for the thesis. Chapter 4 presents the results. Chapter 5 presents the discussion, contributions, and limitations to the thesis. The bibliography and appendices are included are all chapters. The writing format follows the American Medical Association (11th edition) style.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.0 Introduction

This literature review focused on learning from and improving upon currently available studies with similar methods to the present sub-study. Studies investigating new active transportation infrastructure, using natural experiments or longitudinal cohort design, and collecting activity data by GPS and accelerometer were reviewed. Despite a lack of studies in Canadian cities, there is a solid knowledge base to indicate effective study methods regarding built environment interventions and physical activity level. Many themes have emerged, grouped into exposure studies and their methods, empirical results from infrastructure studies, methods for studying physical activity, and GPS data processing. Lessons learned from these categories provided the necessary information to employ a robust study design and analysis plan in this sub-study. There are a number of different types of bicycle infrastructure that might be counted as a built environment intervention with the potential to increase cycling. These include, bike paths, cycle tracks, multi-use paths, or bicycle boulevards. A bike path is a paved path separated from motorized traffic (i.e., not on street) dedicated to cycling. A cycle track, sometimes called separated bike lane or protected bike lane, is exclusive to bicycles and is located on or next to a road. A multi-use path, sometimes called shared-use path or mixed-use path, is infrastructure that supports recreation and transportation opportunities, including walking, bicycling, and wheelchair use. A bicycle boulevard is a low speed street which has been optimized for bicycle traffic. Bicycle boulevards discourage often have low speed limit (e.g., 20km/h, have speed bumps and other measures to slow vehicle traffic, and limit all but local vehicles entering.

2.1 Exposure to Safe Active Transportation Infrastructure

Evidence from urban environments and health research indicates the built environment plays an essential role in increasing population levels of physical activity, which may have a more important role than genetic and biological variables.^{6,36,37} Perception of risks associated with cycling is a deterring factor, but analyses have compared the health benefits of bicycling to its dangers. Bicycling injuries are the main risk for cyclists. Overall, the benefits outweigh the risks.³⁸ In a review of 30 studies assessing varied benefits and consequences, the median benefit-to-risk ratio was 9 (range: 2-360).³⁹ To put this in context, in transportation decision-making, a ratio of 2 is considered a good value for money.⁴⁰ In urban areas, cycling is an accessible travel choice, as the majority of trips taken are of reasonable distances,⁴¹ and cycling trips can be time-competitive with driving. The potential for increasing active transportation via cycling is underscored by the difference in cycling rates between North American and European cities with similar climates and demographics (1-2% of trips versus 15-40% of trips, respectively).^{42,43} Further, cycling can be an accessible and equitable transportation mode that provides mobility to individuals of all ages and economic circumstances.

Recent evidence provides a framework for urban planners and policymakers to take meaningful steps to improve public health using built environment interventions.^{44,45} At a national and regional level, the evidence clearly shows that areas with more cycling infrastructure have higher cycling and physical activity behaviours.^{6,12,23,37,44,46} As well, countries with the lowest prevalence of chronic conditions have the highest active transportation-related physical activity levels.^{20,21} For example, Buehler & Pucher¹² used regional level data from 90 American cities to examine the association between cycling infrastructure and cycling. The results (R^2 =.65; p <.05) indicate that cities with a higher supply of bike lanes have significantly greater bike commute rates.¹² A study examining national travel data suggests that considering

the high prevalence of walking and cycling in Germany, active transportation is common for meeting daily physical activity recommendations.⁴⁷ Research from other countries provides evidence to inform and inspire the future implementation of equitable cycling infrastructure in Canadian urban centers.

Existing knowledge from current research was primarily conducted in Australia, the United Kingdom, and the United States.^{14–16,22–25} There is limited evidence that new cycling infrastructure is associated with cycling in Canada. Given the substantial investment required to develop cycling infrastructure, municipal decision-makers across Canada require clear evidence to guide program and policy development effectively. The questions they need to answer are: "Does total cycling increase? Do those who participate in cycling change? What strategies offer the most promise? What are the benefits to cities if they succeed in increasing cycling levels?" ⁴⁸. Without such evidence, cities risk misallocating scarce resources or continuing the Canadian paradigm with minimal provision for cyclists: deterring those who might otherwise cycle,⁴⁹ and placing those who do cycle at unnecessarily high risk.⁵⁰

While country or city-level analyses are essential, they do not provide specific evidence on the impact of particular cycling-related policies in given cities. Also, country or city-level studies cannot quantify newly constructed cycling infrastructure usage and whether that infrastructure is associated with physical activity changes. For example, weaknesses of the Buehler and Pucher¹² study are not using GPS and accelerometer data to record real-time location and physical activity and a lack of a specific ability to guide the health impacts of local cycling infrastructure investments.¹² As a result of these limitations, and the specific Canadian context, I reviewed the literature focusing on GPS and accelerometer-based research examining the impact of new cycling infrastructure on physical activity. This literature review will

determine the best practices for analyzing the AAA Cycling Network's potential impact on physical activity.

2.2 Empirical results from cycling infrastructure studies

Cycling infrastructure provides opportunities for individuals to be physically active and reduce sedentary transport modes.^{35,44} Based on the currently available literature, I reviewed five studies that used natural experiments to evaluate physical activity levels after new infrastructure interventions. Natural experiments allow the investigation of health outcomes based upon exposure to new physical activity infrastructure over time.^{26,27} A strength of natural experiments is observing physical activity levels without direct alteration or manipulation by the experimenter.^{15,23,28,29} Four studies used GPS data to measure physical activity pre-and post-intervention. Various statistical analysis methods were used including Difference in Differences, Hidden Markov Models, multivariate regression, linear regression, and paired sampled *t*-tests. Below these methods are reviewed in more detail with the findings from each study.

In a natural experiment of bicycle boulevard urban form interventions in Portland, Oregon, the team used GPS and accelerometer data on a sample of adults with children (n = 353) to assess physical activity changes over time.²⁴ The study used a data collection period of five days using a longitudinal approach occurring at two-time points.²⁴ There are few statistical methods used to calculate effect size including difference in differences using multivariate regression models. This is consistent with other natural experiments investigating physical activity levels.^{15,16,23,24,28} The study did not show an increase in active transportation-related

physical activity after the bicycle infrastructure intervention, which researchers explain in part by the short data collection period of 5 days.²⁴

Pritchard et al (2019) in Oslo, Norway, investigated if new bicycle infrastructure resulted in new or rerouted cyclists using a planned natural experiment.²³ The study recruited 113 adult participants to use a smartphone app with GPS for 28 days pre and post-intervention. In the natural experiment, both exposed and unexposed groups experienced an increase in total cycling.²³ The researchers used a difference in differences approach to estimate the new infrastructure's impact on new cycling. They estimated a treatment effect of a 4.7% change in bicycle modal share (95% CI [-0.065, 0.159]) using a difference in differences. Difference in differences is a valuable tool in this case for its ability to mimic experimental research approaches using observational study data by comparing a defined treatment (or exposed) group to a control (or non-exposed) group.⁵¹

Brown and colleagues⁹ found similar results when using accelerometers and GPS to collect one week of physical activity data from adult participants (n = 536) after installing new bicycle and complete streets infrastructure in Salt Lake City, Utah. They found that participants cycling increased on new cycling infrastructure from 18.51 minutes (SD = 54.96) to 22.55 minutes (SD = 49.95), but these results were not statistically significant (SD = 49.95; t(203) = 0.99, p = 0.32). A limitation of this study that may lead to non-significant results is that the researchers focused on non-cyclists (n = 434) in comparison to previous cyclists (n = 102). Non-cyclists comprised over three-quarters of the participant sample, which may contribute to the non-significant findings. Another important factor to consider is the cycling network's placement and the amenities accessible by infrastructure users. Cycling networks connected with mixed

land use allow cyclists to perform bicycle trips for multiple purposes, contributing to greater overall cycling.³⁰

Heesch et al (2016) evaluated a new bicycle highway in Brisbane, Australia using a cell phone-based GPS tracking application combined with GPS bicycle counts over four years.³¹ Although finding a significant increase in cycling and GPS tracking users, many problems arose. The study employed a passive GPS data collection of a homogenous participant sample (n=78,325). The big data approach involved 90% males, primarily aged 35-44.³¹ The generalizability of this study is very low, with sacrifices to internal validity. Of note, heat maps were used to define exposure, and there was no analysis of individual-level cycling data. As a result, this study did not examine individual level behaviour change, rather it measured changes in population averages. The population-level analysis leaves a large margin for error and limited generalizability. Based on these reviewed studies' results, individual-level data analysis will provide the greatest strength of evidence in my research.

Goodman et al.³⁷ analyzed new cycling routes using linear regressions to assess how proximity to the new infrastructure predicted changes in physical activity measured with accelerometers. This study did not include GPS data. The study population included (n=1796) adult residents in three U.K. municipalities at baseline, with 1465 participating in follow-up data collection in 2012.³⁷ The team determined that the use of active transportation infrastructure was associated with baseline physical activity levels. Proximity effects were significant at a 2-year follow-up. The results demonstrate an increase in physical activity of 15.3 minutes per week per kilometre (CI = 6.5, 24.2) closer to the intervention. The team found that in the short term, new local routes displaced walking and cycling trips, and in the long-term new trips were generated. Studies examining associations between new cycling infrastructure and physical activity show that infrastructure tends to be associated with increased physical activity. These associations appear to depend on the type of infrastructure and the length of time data are collected post-intervention. Of note, there are no intervention studies in Canadian cities. The literature shows that there are also considerable differences in the data processing and analysis methods for GPS and physical activity data, which make replication and comparison of different studies challenging.

2.3 GPS and Physical Activity Methods

Accelerometers measure the change of velocity over time and report acceleration in terms of multiples of gravitational force. Unprocessed acceleration data is often referred to as raw acceleration data. To develop measures of different movement types (e.g., sitting, lying down, walking/running at different intensities), physical activity researchers have typically used research grade accelerometers placed on the hip or worn on the wrist.⁵² Raw data are typically converted into cut points to predict human movement from smartphones at known wear locations.⁵³ A cut-point approach uses a single summary measure of acceleration (e.g., counts) and applies thresholds, known as cut-points, to define categories of movement types or physical activity intensity. For example, the Freedson cut-points define physical activity intensities as sedentary (<99 counts), light (100-759 counts), moderate intensity (760-5724 counts), and vigorous (5725-max counts).⁵⁴ Data collection with GPS devices is an affordable and accurate method to collect movement data that improve the error-prone travel diaries, interviews, travel surveys, mail surveys, and prompted recall surveys.⁵⁵ GPS data collection is useful and accurate for recording time and location, but it is challenging to discern trip mode or purpose.^{55,56} There are no generalizable methods to imputing trip mode using the INTERACT data. Combining GPS

and GIS methods, it is possible to accurately determine whether the physical activity occurred on or near the new or existing cycling infrastructure.^{9,25,57–60}

2.5 Research Question and Hypothesis

Studies examining the association between new cycling infrastructure and physical activity using GPS and accelerometer show that new infrastructure is associated with greater physical activity. However, several literature gaps remain pertaining to Canadian data, sample representativeness, length of measurement, and GPS and accelerometer processing methods. My study is designed to build upon previous research and contribute to filling current gaps in the literature. Does exposure to new active transportation infrastructure among adults in Victoria, BC, change physical activity? That is the question I seek to answer in this thesis. I hypothesized that exposure to the AAA Cycling Network would be associated with an increase in MVPA among residents of Victoria. My sub-study of the large natural experiment in Victoria, BC, can provide empirical evidence for urban planners and future researchers to understand healthy city design and its effects on MVPA.²⁹

Chapter 3: Methods

3.0 Overview

The INTErventions, Research and Action in Cities Team, a Canadian Institutes of Health Research funded project, seeks to advance research on the design of healthy and sustainable cities for all.²⁹ INTERACT is a pan-Canadian collaboration of scientists, urban planners, and citizens uncovering the impact of urban changes on health and equity.³⁴ INTERACT is currently studying urban form interventions in four Canadian cities: Vancouver and Victoria, British Columbia, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, and Montreal, Ouebec. In Victoria, the AAA is being examined. The study is taking place in three waves in each city over five years. In each wave, approximately 300 participants were recruited. Participants have multiple options for participation, but all participants completed an online survey and had the option to participate in further data collection opportunities. My portion of the project examined the association between exposure to the first phase of the AAA Cycling Network in Victoria on overall physical activity levels. I analyzed the first and second waves of data collection. These waves examine the completion and exposure of the Pandora Avenue protected cycle track, Johnson Street bridge, Wharf Street protected cycle track, and the Fort Street cycle track. This project is important because it examined the effects of the interventions over two years, compared to the baseline effects of the AAA Cycling Network. The natural experiment design addresses limitations found in previous experiments, where it has taken greater than one year for significant uptake of usage for new infrastructure. Results from my project can help inform the Bicycling Master Plan currently being developed by the City of St. John's in Newfoundland. Using INTERACT study data, small cities lacking cycling infrastructure like St. John's can have a clear path to become healthy, sustainable, and equitable.

3.1 Study Design and Intervention

This study is a prospective cohort study with the planned evaluation of a natural experiment analyzing exposure to the new AAA Cycling Network on active transportation physical activity levels. Victoria's AAA Cycling Network introduced protected cycling infrastructure across the city, starting with the implementation of a 5.4 km grid in the downtown core in 2018.²⁹ The construction phase includes five years (2018 through 2022), connecting all of downtown Victoria with active transportation infrastructure.⁶¹ Figure 1 shows the study timeline.



Figure 1. INTERACT AAA Victoria timeline

The AAA Cycling Network is in the median stage of construction in downtown Victoria, BC.³⁴ The first phase of this project is a 5.4km grid located in the downtown core with protected bike lanes for high traffic volume streets and neighbourhood bikeways for lower volume areas.²⁹ This phase concluded with the completion of the Pandora Avenue protected cycling path.⁶¹ By 2019, Fort Street, Johnson Street bridge, and Wharf Street were complete and open during the data collection period. These new additions can be seen in Figure 3 below.⁶¹ It is visually apparent from Figure 3 that there is a significant increase in exposure areas for cyclists in Victoria in 2019 compared to 2017. The actual exposure areas were calculated using a 70-meter buffer around the four sections of the AAA Cycling Network. Forecasted for completion in the year 2022, the AAA network will connect every neighbourhood in Victoria for a total of thirty-two kilometres of safe bicycle infrastructure.⁶¹ The AAA Cycling Network is designed to provide equitable

access for everyone in the community. It is designed to reduce active transportation barriers,

including cycling efficacy, access, and safe activity spaces.^{29,34}



Figure 3. Victoria AAA Cycling Network Implementation Maps in 2017 and 2019

3.2 Data Collection Protocol

Two methods of data collection²⁹ were employed for the AAA study online surveys (See Appendix B) and activity sensing tools in each of the two waves. Figure 2 shows a flow diagram of participation options for the study. The data from the two data collection waves were combined for analysis. Participants were asked to wear a mobile sensing device (SenseDoc).⁶²

3.2.0 Online Survey

All participants were asked to complete an INTERACT online survey.⁶³ The survey was divided into several categories. Initially, participants were asked questions about their demographic information. The next section included questions about their health and well-being. Questions in



Figure 2: Team INTERACT data collection methods

the next sections were related to activity level, asking participants about the types of transportation modes, their physical activity levels, and their time spent sitting. Participants were then asked if they use activity trackers to measure their physical activity. To understand barriers to using digital tools, questions were asked regarding any concerns with data security. Sense of

community and neighbourhood belonging questions followed in the next section. Finally, participants were asked if they use and have knowledge of the AAA Bicycling Network.

3.2.1 Activity Sensing Tool

For the activity sensing portion of the study, participants had the opportunity to use a wearable activity sensing tool called a SenseDoc for ten days.⁶⁴ A SenseDoc is a research-grade GPS and accelerometer device.⁶² SenseDoc collects physical activity and location data continuously, as long as the device is on. For this study, I analyzed the SenseDoc data to determine participant physical activity levels and locations. During data analysis, I calculated location-based MVPA and used location data to calculate exposure to the AAA network during each wave of data collection using methods consistent with other INTERACT sites and waves.^{55,56,65}

3.2.2 Data Collection Period

Wave one data collection was completed from May 2017 to November 2017. The data collection for wave two of this study took place from May 2019 to August 2019.

3.2.3 Ethics

Ethics approval for the greater team INTERACT project was received from the ethics boards of Simon Fraser University, the University of Saskatchewan, the *Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l' Université de Montréal*, and Memorial University of Newfoundland. For my Master of Science in Kinesiology thesis, I have obtained sub-project ethics approval before beginning data analysis (ICEHR # 20211696-HK – See Appendix A).

3.3 Sample, Measures, and Exposure

3.3.0 Sample

In Victoria, 315 participants were recruited for the second wave of data collection. We attempted to recruit a representative sample from those in the population who fit the inclusion criteria accounting for age, gender, and socioeconomic status. The inclusion criteria for participants included living in the Capital Regional District and bicycling at least once a month in the City of Victoria. Participants were excluded if they under 18 years old, unable to read or write English well enough to complete an online survey, and had any intentions of moving out of the region in the next two years.²⁹ Not everyone participating had access to the internet, had a mobile phone or a computer. These individuals could participate in the survey either in person with a research assistant or over the phone.²⁹ These individuals also had the opportunity to wear a SenseDoc, making study participants completed the online survey, and 123 participants chose to wear a SenseDoc to collect data on their physical activity and spatial location data.

Recruitment involved street marketing, attending community events, postering campaigns, email campaigns, snowball marketing, some traditional media, and social media. Street marketing included handing out cards or stickered lollipops to people on bikes at street lights and bike racks. We attended numerous community events with either a table or assisting with a bike valet. Events were general, such as community festivals, and also directed to the bicycling community (e.g., Bike to Work Week). In addition to attending over 20 events, we created two pop up events specifically to recruit for INTERACT. One morning we engaged with Crystal Pool patrons over coffee in the lobby to let them know about INTERACT. On another occasion we handed out free lemonade and popsicles on the Galloping Goose Regional Trail in order to engage potential

participants for a longer than possible with street marketing tactics. To reinforce our branding, we put up 100 posters in coffee shops, libraries, on campus, at work place bike lockers, and in some bike stores in all neighbourhoods of the city. In some locations such as bike shops, we also had small buckets of lollipops that were stickered with our branding.

3.3.1 Measures

3.3.1.0 Outcome

The primary outcome variable for this analysis is MVPA. Physical activity was measured through validated device-based measures collected using the SenseDoc device.⁶⁶ This study analyzed the total minutes of moderate and vigorous physical activity. I calculated minute-by-minute location-based physical activity levels using existing methods.^{9,14,29,79} Physical activity data analysis was done in a number of steps. First, raw accelerometer data were converted to counts using published methods and custom-developed Python code. Vertical axis counts were then used for wear detection. The well-validated Choi algorithm was used to calculate device wear and non-wear.⁸⁰ Following wear/non-wear detection, physical activity cut-points developed by Troiano for the vertical axis were to classify sedentary, light, moderate, and vigorous physical activity.⁸¹ The resulting analysis classified every minute of activity as either sedentary, light, moderate, or vigorous. I then created a variable that indicated if a minute was either sedentary or active, meaning it was either light, moderate or vigorous activity. Both the Choi algorithm and the Troiano cut-points are well-validated and commonly used in physical activity research.^{82,83} Minutes of physical activity were summed per day.

3.3.1.1 Exposures

Exploring causation is a primary objective in epidemiological studies.⁶⁷ If a chosen method's assumptions are met, exposure measures can provide causal claims about observational studies.^{56,68} GPS data from



Figure 4: Buffer zone examples adapted from Lee and Kwan⁷⁶

each participant were analyzed to determine their level of exposure to the intervention (AAA Cycling Network).²⁹ I calculated individual exposure to the AAA network using GPS and GIS using a method known as daily path mobility.⁵⁵ Daily path mobility can be used effectively in natural experiments using GPS, provided the networks are not overly dense with limited overlapping of same-purpose infrastructure.⁶⁹ Daily path mobility has been used to relate environmental contexts along a participant's GPS route and is helpful in defining exposure.⁶⁹ For my AAA Cycling Network sub-study, I applied network daily path mobility in my GPS data analysis to confirm that participants used the AAA network. I created a 70-meter buffer around the AAA network(s) of interest in 2017 and 2019 and calculated in a GPS point was either inside or outside of the buffer. I chose a 70-meter buffer because this buffer size selects the road network and adjacent building but minimizes the chance that another road adjacent to the road of interest will also be measured. After determining participant exposure, participants were assigned according to their level of exposure. Comparisons of the different exposure levels of participants were performed during data analysis. To test the potential sensitivity of my analysis to buffer size, I also compared my existing 70-meter buffer zones with 50- and 100-meters buffer zones and compared the results.

For the exposure estimates, I remove participants who had more than 500 minutes (~8 hours) of absolute exposure per day and participants who had more than 40% of their daily time spent

within the buffers. I assume these people live or work near the bike lanes. Minutes of absolute and relative exposure were calculated per day. Relative exposure refers to the proportion of GPS points inside the buffer zone divided by the Sensedoc wear time per day. This metric is useful for estimating exposure while studying only the physically active periods of the day. The absolute exposure refers to the proportion of GPS points inside the buffer zone per day.

3.4 Statistical Analysis

3.4.0 Causal Model

Figure 5 below illustrates the causal model for this study. I believe there is a direct effect between the exposure variable (new active transportation infrastructure) and the outcome variable (MVPA). The exposure to infrastructure featured above in Figure 3 displays the new sections of the AAA Cycling Network that were completed during the 2017 and 2019 waves of data collection, respectively. The study has confounding variables, including age, gender, weather, and socioeconomic status (income).^{49,70,71}





3.4.1 Confounding

The literature review process has allowed me to identify several confounding variables that have occurred repeatedly in similar studies. Confounding is defined as a distorted exposure-disease association attributable in part or whole to the influence of factors other than the exposure of interest.^{27,72} This study is investigating population physical activity levels in response to an urban form intervention. Identifying and controlling for confounding improves the ecological validity of the study and contributes to unbiased results.¹⁵ Confounders are variables that meet all of the following criteria: (1) has an association with the outcome; (2) is associated with the exposure, for instance, a variable that is unequally distributed between study groups; and (3) is not a part of the causal pathway.⁷³ Potential confounders identified in this sub-study include age, gender,

ethnicity, socioeconomic status, habitual activity level, and bicycle access.^{15,33,44,74} Appendix B contains the specific survey questions addressing each of the potential confounding variables.⁶³ In my data analysis, I have controlled for confounding using multivariate regression analysis.

3.4.2 Data Analysis

My data analysis approach consists of four primary steps: 1) descriptive statistics, 2) physical activity calculation, 3) exposure estimation, and 4) intervention effect estimation. Data analysis was conducted reproducibly using R and R Studio.^{29,75,76} The primary outcome for this study is MVPA. Descriptive statistics were calculated for the total sample and the Sensedoc subsample for each wave. For all samples, I calculated descriptives for gender, ethnicity, income, marital status, health status, having children, and access to a car. Income was re-coded from 11 categories to five categories. The descriptive statistics of the wave one and two participant samples, including physical activity, exposure, and confounders, have been analyzed for normality.⁷⁷ The sample was not representative of the general population of Canada, and data on cyclists living in Victoria are not currently available. As a researcher and member of team INTERACT, I am committed to open, reproducible science and will post all code and analyses online.⁷⁸

3.4.3 Intervention Effect Estimation

After calculating physical activity and creating exposure measures, additional methods are required to determine if the infrastructure intervention was associated with physical activity level over time. In the AAA Cycling Network study, the intervention's effect size is estimated by combining baseline data (2017) to wave two data (2019) into one dataset. As a longitudinal study with two time points to date, the difference in differences method was used to measure the impact of the AAA Victoria intervention.²⁹ The primary outcome of the study is MVPA at the

minute level. The exposure was either absolute (number of minutes) or relative (% of total daily minutes spent) near the AAA network each day. The intervention was the 2017 or 2019 AAA network. The data are nested, with minutes of physical activity, nested within days, nested within participants. Multilevel linear models were used to estimate the impact of the intervention accounting for the nested structure of the data and including covariates of weather, wave, gender, income, and age.

In my literature review, it has become apparent that no methods are refined enough to be universally accepted in GPS location-based physical activity research. After reviewing the literature, difference in differences⁸⁴ is the method that I decided to adopt to provide consistent and reproducible results.^{51,84–86} With the INTERACT dataset, it is also possible to use interrupted time series analysis using weekly rather than individual-level data. Using these methods allows for a greater understanding of any effects the AAA Cycling Network has on MVPA.

Chapter 4: Results

4.0 Total Sample

The total sample size for this study was 596 participants. This sample is divided into two waves during the data collection periods of the natural experiment. In 2017 (wave one) and 2019 (wave two) respectively, there were n = 281 and n = 315 participants. See Table 1 for participant demographic information for each wave of data collection. To summarize, participants' mean age was 44.7 years old (SD = 13.2). Just over half (51.6%) of the sample were women (n = 293), and eight participants identified as trans or gender non-binary (1.4%). Most participants (73.5%, n = 438) identified as Caucasian. Most participants (74.4%, n = 444) had incomes greater than \$50,000 per year. Over two-thirds (68.6%, n = 409) were currently married or common law and
9.4% (n = 56) were separated or divorced. Most participants (71.2%, n = 424) ranked their health status as either very good or excellent.

4.1 Sensedoc Subsample

A subset of our sample (n =278) wore a Sensedoc for ten days which collected GPS and accelerometer data (Table 1). One group of participants (n=149) wore the Sensedoc during the first wave of data collection, with a second group (n = 129) wore the device in the second wave of data collection. The sociodemographic characteristics of these participants did not differ substantially from the entire sample. The demographic data for each group are presented in Table 2. Since there are no differences between participants who wore the device at Wave 1 and Wave 2, the total sample was be used when discussing the data collected using the survey.

The total sample for the combined demographic and Sensedoc data included 1264068 minutes, nested within 345 days (across 2017 and 2019), nested within 245 participants. Thirthy three participants data was removed due to missing data on covariates. Data cleaning resulted in removing 6029 days of activity (0.5%) where absolute exposure was greater than 500 minutes per day. For relative exposure, 39594 days were removed (3.1%) were more than 40% of the participants recorded time was spend exposed to the intervention.

	Wave one (2017, N = 281)	Wave two (2019, N = 315)
Age		
Mean (SD)	44.2 (13.4)	45.6 (13.0)
Range	(20, 79)	(23, 81)
Gender	(20,79)	(20,01)
% Women	51.9	51.4
% Men	46.9	38.1
% Trans or gender non-binary	1.1	1.7
Ethnicity		1.,
% Caucasian	86.8	80.0
% Aboriginal	1.4	2.2
% Asian	6.4	5.1
% Latin American	1.4	0
% Middle Eastern	0.3	0.6
% Unknown	3.5	1.9
Born in Canada	5.0	
% Yes	74.4	72.7
% No	25.6	18.4
Income	2010	1011
\$49,999 or less	16.4	10.6
\$50,000 to \$99,000	38.1	28.9
\$100,000 to \$149,999	23.1	25.1
\$150,000 or more	15.3	18.7
I do not know/ Prefer not to say	7.1	8.0
Marital Status		
Married (or common-law)	71.9	65.7
Separated or divorced	8.2	10.5
Single (never married)	19.2	14.6
Widowed	0.7	0.3
Health Status		
Poor/Fair/Good	26.2	22.2
Very good	49.1	43.2
Excellent	24.5	25.7
Children		
% Yes	53.7	51.1
% No	46.3	40.0
Car Access	-	-
% Yes	90.7	85.4
% No	6.4	3.5

Table 1. Participant demographics from the INTERACT cohort, a sample of residents who cycled at least once per month in Victoria, BC, Canada

	Wave one (2017, N = 129)	Wave two (2019, N = 153)
Age		
Mean (SD)	45.7 (13.7)	44.6 (14.5)
Range	(22, 79)	(23, 79)
Gender		
% Women	51.6	50.0
% Men	47.0	49.3
% Trans or gender non-	**	**
binary		
Ethnicity		
% Caucasian	88.6	89.5
% Aboriginal	1.3	2.7
% Asian	7.4	4.0
% Latin American	0.7	0
% Middle Eastern	0	0.9
% Unknown	2.0	2.0
Born in Canada		
% Yes	70.5	83.6
% No	29.5	16.3
Income		
\$49,999 or less	16.8	16.7
\$50,000 to \$99,000	34.9	29.9
\$100,000 to \$149,999	24.8	27.9
\$150,000 or more	15.4	18.9
I do not know/ Prefer not to	8.0	6.6
say		
Marital Status		
Married (or common-law)	74.8	73.6
Separated or divorced	8.0	9.0
Single (never married)	14.8	17.4
Widowed	1.3	0
Health Status		
Poor/Fair/Good	23.5	23.9
Very good	47.6	46.5
Excellent	28.8	29.6
Children		
% Yes	53.0	50.4
% No	46.9	49.6
Car Access	0 0 5	01.1
% Yes	92.5	91.1
% No Note: ** Excluded from regression an	7.5	4.9

Table 2: Participant demographics from the Sensedoc subsample, a sample of residents who cycled at least once per month in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Note: ** Excluded from regression analysis due to small sample size

4.2 Physical Activity

The average minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity were 36.1 (SD = 35.1) per day across both waves. During wave 1, the average physical activity was 35.1 (SD = 35.2) minutes. During wave 2, the average physical activity was 37.4 (SD = 35.0) minutes. Figure 6 the histogram of minutes per day of moderate to vigorous physical activity. Figure 7 shows the daily minutes of physical activity over time for each wave. Both Figures 6 and 7 are what is typical for physical activity measures using accelerometers. Figure 6 shows that many participants engaged in little to no MVPA per week, while Figure 7 shows variation in activity by participant and over the seasons. There is a gap in Figure 7 in August when no participants were recording data using Sensedoc. This was due to a staff shortage for our team in Victoria during that 2 week period.



Figure 6. Histogram of Minutes of Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity per Day in Wave 1 and Wave 2



Figure 7. Scatterplot of Minutes of Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity per Day over time in Wave 1 and Wave 2.

4.3 Exposure Measure

Exposure to the AAA Cycling Network is defined as the proportion of GPS points that fall within a 70-meter buffer around the network. Buffer zones can be used effectively in urban space natural experiments using GPS, provided the networks are not overly dense with limited overlapping of same-purpose infrastructure.⁶⁹ Buffer analysis (e.g., 70m) has been used to relate environmental contexts along a participant's GPS route, useful for defining exposure.⁶⁹ Exposure to the AAA Cycling Network is illustrated in Figure 8 (Histogram of absolute exposure) and Figure 9 (Histogram of relative exposure) below, and a map is provided in Figure 12.

The mean absolute exposure using the 70-meter buffer was 21.7 minutes while the median was 2.0 minutes, suggesting that over the approximately ten-day study period, participants had little exposure to the AAA bicycle network. Exposure at Wave 1 was on average 14.5 minutes (SD = 48.4, median = 0), while at Wave 2, exposure was 31 minutes (SD = 72.8, median = 7) across the participation period of approximately ten days. The mean relative exposure was 2.53%. Only 2.5% of participants' total GPS points were within a 70-meter buffer of the AAA Cycling Network. Exposure at Wave 1 was on average 1.9 % of time (SD = 5.23,

median = 0), while at Wave 2 exposure was 3.4 percent of time (SD = 5.8, median = 1.2) across the participant period of approximately ten days.



Figure 8. Histogram of absolute exposed to AAA Cycling Network at Wave 1 and Wave 2



Figure 9. Histogram of relative exposed to AAA Cycling Network at Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figures 10 and 11 show the scatter between MVPA, and absolute and relative exposure, respectively. The scatter plots show that most physical activity occurs at relatively low levels of exposure for both absolute and relative exposure measures. Across waves and definitions exposure, visual inspection of the figures suggests greater MPVA as exposure increases, though this relationship is small.



Figure 10. Scatterplot of Absolute Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network in Wave 1 and Wave 2



Figure 11. Scatterplot of Relative Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network in Wave 1 and Wave 2

Figure 12 shows a map of all GPS points at wave one and wave two. Based on the analysis of the histograms and descriptive statistics for absolute and relative exposure and visual inspection of the maps, it is clear that exposure represents only a small number of total GPS in the sample. The small proportion of GPS points suggests that the intervention effect is likely to be small.



Figure 12. Scatterplot of Absolute Daily Exposure to AAA Cycling Network. Notes. Red points are non-exposed and blue points are exposed. Black lines represent the AAA cycling infrastructure.

4.5 Difference in Differences Multilevel Models

Linear and multilevel regression models were used to examine the association between exposure to the AAA Cycling Network and physical activity (MVPA/day). Models were computed separately for both absolute and relative exposure. The models were run in the following order. First, linear regression models with covariates Second, a three level random intercept models with minutes, nested in days, nested in participants. Third, a three-level random slopes model with a random slope accounts for variation between days within participants and a random intercept for participants. Finally, I include quintiles of exposure and covariates rather than a linear term to examine potential non-linear associations between exposure and physical activity for absolute exposures. Finally, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to investigate possible differences in results between different exposure sizes (50m and 100m) for both relative and absolute exposure) using models with random intercepts at the day and participant level and including covariates.

4.5.1 Absolute Exposure to AAA Cycling Network

Table 3 presents the models for the absolute exposure. The results are consistent across the different model specifications, which suggests that the findings are relatively robust. In model 1, the linear regression with covariates, a one-minute increase in absolute exposure to the AAA network is associated with a small 0.03 (95% CI: 0.03 to 0.03) increase in minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity. This result is consistent across the different model specifications, with Model 2 and Model 3 estimating small increases in MVPA associated with greater exposure to the AAA network. The interaction term between wave and absolute exposure, the key estimate of interest in difference in differences analysis, shows a negative association between MVPA and greater exposure to the AAA network at Wave 1 compared to Wave 2. This association is estimated to be between -0.01 (95% CI: -0.02 to -0.01, Model 1) and -0.16 (95% CI: -0.16 to -0.15, Model 2).

Table 3. Difference in differences regression analyses examining the association between absolute exposure to the AAA bicycle network and wave with moderate to vigorous physical activity.

-			
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
	Estimate (95% CI)	Estimate (95% CI)	Estimate*
Intercept	29.86 (29.24 to 30.49)	31.5 (8.1 to 54.9)	-95.93
Absolute Exposure	0.03 (0.03 to 0.03)	0.11 (0.11 to 0.11)	0.07
Wave 1	Reference	Reference	Reference
Wave 2	4.72 (4.48 to 4.97)	0.93 (-5.28 to 7.14)	4.42
Exposure*Wave	-0.01 (-0.02 to -0.01)	-0.16 (-0.16 to -0.15)	-0.13

Notes. Model 1 is a linear model. Model 2 is a multilevel model with random intercepts per day and per participant. Model 3 is a multilevel model with random slopes per day by participant and random intercepts per participant. * It was not possible to estimate Model 3 confidence intervals due to convergence problems. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

Table 4 shows the results of the multilevel model with random intercepts at the day and

participant level using quintiles of absolute exposure. The quintile estimates demonstrate no

increase in physical activity as exposure quintiles increase. There is also no meaningful effect

estimated from the quintile by wave two interaction term.

Predictor Variable	Estimate (minutes MVPA/day)	Standard Error	t-value
Intercept	32.23	12.13	2.66
Quintile 1 Absolute exposure	Reference		
Quintile 2 Absolute exposure	0.010	0.10	0.11
Quintile 3 Absolute exposure	0.018	0.10	0.19
Quintile 4 Absolute exposure	0.029	0.10	0.30
Quintile 5 Absolute exposure	0.036	0.10	0.37
Wave 1	Reference		
Wave 2	-1.70	3.18	-0.54
Quintile 1*Wave 2	Reference		
Quintile 2*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	0.01
Quintile 3*Wave 2	0.01	0.24	0.03
Quintile 4*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	-0.02
Quintile 5*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	-0.00

Table 4. Absolute exposure to AAA Cycling Network with 70m buffer regressed on MVPA without covariates in quintiles.

Notes. Model is a multilevel model with random intercepts per day and per participant. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

4.5.2 Relative Exposure to AAA Cycling Network

Table 5 presents the models for the relative exposure. The results are consistent across the different model specifications, which suggests that the findings are relatively robust. In model 1, the linear regression with covariates, a one percent increase of total time spent in the buffer of the AAA network is associated with a small 0.27 (95% CI: 0.25 to 0.29) minute increase in moderate to vigorous physical activity. This result is consistent across the different model specifications, with Model 1 and 2 estimating small increases in MVPA associated with greater exposure to the AAA network. The interaction term between wave and relative exposure, the key estimate of interest in difference in differences analysis, shows a negative association between MVPA and greater exposure to the AAA network at Wave 1 compared to Wave 2. This

association is estimated to be between -0.06 (95% CI: -0.10 to -0.03, Model 1) and -0.35 (95%

CI: -0.39 to -0.32, Model 2). The random slopes model that was included in the absolute

exposure analysis (Model 3) did not converge with the relative exposure model.⁸⁷ Convergence

problems are common, and while multiple optimizers were tested, the model still failed to

converge.

exposure to the AAA bicycle network and wave with moderate to vigorous physical activity.		
	Model 1	Model 2
	Estimate (95% CI)	Estimate (95% CI)
Intercept	28.16 (27.53 to 28.80)	32.4 (8.55 to 56.28)
Relative Exposure	0.27 (0.25 to 0.29)	0.46 (0.44 to 0.47)
Wave 1	Reference	Reference
Wave 2	4.40 (4.13 to 4.66)	1.06 (-5.32 to 7.45)
Exposure*Wave	-0.06 (-0.10 to -0.03)	-0.35 (-0.39 to -0.32)

Table 5. Difference in differences regression analyses examining the association between relative exposure to the AAA bicycle network and wave with moderate to vigorous physical activity.

Notes. Model 1 is a linear model. Model 2 is a multilevel model with random intercepts per day and per participant. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

Table 6 shows the results of the multilevel model with random intercepts at the day and participant level using quintiles of relative exposure. The quintile estimates demonstrate no increase in physical activity as exposure quintiles increase. There is also no meaningful effect estimated from the quintile by wave two interaction term.

Predictor Variable	Estimate (minutes MVPA/week)	Standard Error	t-value
Intercept	32.05	12.53	2.56
Quintile 1 Relative exposure	Reference		
Quintile 2 Relative exposure	0.01	0.01	0.11
Quintile 3 Relative exposure	0.02	0.01	0.18
Quintile 4 Relative exposure	0.03	0.01	0.29
Quintile 5 Relative exposure	0.04	0.01	0.36
Wave 1	Reference		
Wave 2	0.263	3.24	0.08
Quintile 1*Wave 2	Reference value		
Quintile 2*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	0.02
Quintile 3*Wave 2	0.01	0.24	0.05
Quintile 4*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	0.00
Quintile 5*Wave 2	0.00	0.24	0.02

Table 6. Relative exposure to AAA Cycling Network with 70m buffer regressed on MVPA without covariates in quintiles

Notes. Model is a multilevel model with random intercepts per day and per participant. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

4.6 Buffer Zone Sensitivity Analysis

The statistical analysis in this study relied upon 70-meter buffer zones around the AAA cycling network. The reason for this zone is to capture physical activity while participants are exposed to the AAA cycling network, but to avoid capturing physical activity on adjacent streets and cycle paths. Based on the assessment of the geographical layout of the streets in downtown Victoria, 70-meters was deemed to be an ideal buffer zone to capture exposure. To understand the accuracy of this method, sensitivity analyses were performed using the same covariates and participant data, however, with a 50-meter buffer zone and a 100-meter buffer zone. The results are presented below in Table 7 for the absolute exposure and Table 8 for the relative exposure. There were minor differences between the models with different buffer sizes. For the absolute exposure measures, it appears as though the buffer size increased the estimated effect size for the main effect of exposure. In general, the estimate for the interaction term between wave and exposure was smaller. For the main effect of exposure, the estimated minutes of MVPA increase

were 0.12 with 50-meter buffers, 0.12 with 70-meter buffers, and 0.08 with 100-meter buffers.

The estimate for the interaction term between exposure using a 50-meter buffer and wave was

-0.16 minutes of MVPA and -0.12 for the 100-meter buffer estimate.

Table 7. Absolute exposure to AAA Cycling Network for three different buffer zones regressed on MVPA

Predictor Variable	50-meter	70-meter:	100-meter:
	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate
Intercept	31.78	31.5	30.95
Absolute Exposure	0.12	0.12	0.08
Wave 1	Reference	Reference	Reference
Wave 2	0.49	0.93	0.92
Exposure*Wave	-0.16	-0.16	-0.12

Notes. All models are multilevel with random intercepts per day and per participant. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

The effect of the buffer size on relative exposure was less clear. For the main effect of

exposure, the estimates are were very similar. For the interaction term between relative exposure

and wave, the estimated effects were all negative and ranged from -0.90 for the 50-meter buffer

to -0.35 for the 70-meter buffer.

Table 8. Relative exposure to AAA Cycling Network for three different buffer zones regressed on MVPA

Predictor Variable	50-meter	70-meter	100-meter
	Estimate	Estimate	Estimate
Intercept	33.06	32.4	32.95
Absolute Exposure	0.42	0.46	0.39
Wave 1	Reference	Reference	Reference
Wave 2	2.52	1.06	2.16
Exposure*Wave	-0.90	-0.35	-0.51

Notes. All models are multilevel with random intercepts per day and per participant. All models include age, gender, household income, average daily temperature, millimeters of daily precipitation, and average daily wind speed as covariates.

Chapter 5: Summary

In this portion of the pan-Canadian team INTERACT natural experiment, the association between new active transportation infrastructure and physical activity was examined. The objective of this thesis was to examine the association between physical activity and exposure to the new sections of the AAA Cycling Network. Four multilevel regression analyses were completed to assess the association between exposure and activity levels.

The hypothesis for this study was that the MVPA for wave two participants would increase as a result of increased exposure to the AAA cycling network. Specifically, by investigating the interaction term of Exposure*Wave, the study evaluated if increased exposure over time resulted in increased MVPA. The results indicate that the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. As seen above, there was a net decrease in MVPA in the interaction term between exposure and wave. The effect size is small, which is to be expected, but the result is consistent across several different modelling approaches. These results are consistent with previous research by Dill and colleagues,²⁴ who hypothesized that new cycling infrastructure is safer and provides a more direct and uninterrupted route for active commuters. The natural experiment used data from a longitudinal panel of adults with children (n = 353) in Portland, OR. Like the present study, the active transportation outcome was measured with GPS and accelerometers worn for only 5 days in comparison with 10 days in the AAA study. The effect of the treatment was estimated using difference in differences estimation and multivariate regression models.²⁴ In five of seven models run by the researchers, the interaction term was found non-significant, indicating there was no correlation between being in a treatment area and minutes of moderate and vigorous physical activity.²⁴

Brown et al.⁹ also found no statistically significant association between new cycling infrastructure and total minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity. In their study, participants wore accelerometers and GPS measurement devices for one week, pre- and post-construction completion, which is closer to the AAA ten-day collection period. Participants sampled within 2 km of the intervention were in the following group: never cyclists (n=434), continuing cyclists (n= 29), former cyclists, and new cyclists (n=40). Results show that all three cycling groups, as identified by GPS/accelerometry data, expended more estimated kilocalories (kcal) of energy per minute during the monitoring week than those who never cycled during the study. Therefore, the decrease in physical activity seen in the Brown et al.⁹ study indicates the possibility of a similar occurrence in Victoria, BC. The AAA Cycling Network may have improved cycling safety and efficiency of travel, which may have led to a decrease in commute times and a decrease in overall physical activity level.

Both cited studies applied methods that are comparable to the present study.^{9,24} These two studies used pre and post-data collection periods. However, the current INTERACT study collected data after one cycle path was completed and again when three additional bike lanes were completed (serving as the post-measurement for this study). There will be a third wave of data collection as well after all bike lanes in the AAA Cycling Network are complete. Currently, the present study is most comparable to the previous literature with two waves of data collection. All three studies used GPS for location measurement, an accelerometer to measure physical activity intensity, and survey data to capture more detailed information from participants. Sample sizes for the three studies are comparable, with n=536 in the Brown et al. study, n = 353 in the Dill et al. study, and n = 129 and n = 153 in waves one and two, respectively. A greater variability was seen across studies for data collection duration, ranging from 3 to 10 days. The

current study has the smallest sample size of the three but the longest data collection period and greatest total observations. All studies examined new, protected cycling infrastructure within urban centers.

There are many possible explanations for the decrease in MVPA for the participants of wave two compared to wave one. First, there was a significant increase in available infrastructure in downtown Victoria during wave two compared to wave one. One benefit of this increased access to infrastructure is that cycling is safer and more direct. Routes may have been shortened because of the new cycling infrastructure, which results in reduced MVPA. Benefits of this finding include improved safety for motorists and cyclists and the reduction of barriers for more individuals to begin active commuting in Victoria. Next, participants' exposure was measured as the proportion of GPS points within a 70-meter buffer area surrounding the four currently available bicycle lanes that are a part of the AAA Cycling Network. Participants spent 4.3% of their total time along the corridors, which is a small proportion of the total time. Of course, the AAA Cycling Network will not encompass all cycling and physical activity undertaken by participants, and as such, increases in physical activity levels outside of the exposure area are difficult to relate to the new corridors. The AAA Cycling Network connects existing activity spaces and bicycle lanes, possibly increasing activity in non-exposure zones. Third, data collection for wave two was completed in the same cycling season as the opening of the new bike lanes. For the participants in the early study period, this means only days or weeks to uptake cycling of the new lanes. From previous studies, it can take years to uptake cycling of new infrastructure.⁴⁴ Data collection for wave three of the AAA Cycling Network may be able to increase our understanding of this observation.

There is currently no standard for defining exposure for new urban infrastructure interventions. In this study, 70-meters was selected based upon the geography of downtown Victoria. The 70-meter buffer zone allows the capturing of physical activity on the new AAA Cycling Network corridors without capturing activity on adjacent streets and bike lanes. To assess the sensitivity of this selected buffer zone, multiple buffer sizes (50-meter, 70-meter, 100meter) were used to compare to the chosen value. In all three buffer zone analyses, the interaction term between exposure and wave indicated a decrease in MVPA by 9.21, 9.38, and 9.50 minutes per week for the 50m, 70m, and 100m buffers, respectively. The results consistently show that participants completed fewer minutes of physical activity in wave two than wave one regardless of buffer size. The consistent results across three buffers may be explained by GPS accuracy (capturing the same proportion of points for the 50m buffer as the 70m buffer) and decreased usage of non-intervention streets by participants (which would otherwise be captured with the 100m buffer).

Combining this study with previous research suggests that there is not a defined relationship between new cycling infrastructure and associated increases in MVPA. The present study, Dill et al.²⁴ and Brown et al.⁹ did not show increased physical activity after new infrastructure interventions. It is possible that all studies contribute to increased physical activity outside of the exposure zones, but this is not recorded due to the study design. By allowing more time after the new cycling infrastructure intervention and monitoring physical activity that is augmented by exposure to the intervention, it is possible that the full potential of built environment natural experiments can be realized.

5.2 Limitations

The present study has limitations that can help improve our understanding of urban form interventions using natural experiments. The first limitation is the possibility of reduced generalizability. The study demographic for both waves of the AAA Cycling Network was homogenous. In general, the participants who took part in the study had modest to high incomes (53% of participants had incomes between \$50,000 and \$150,000), identified as Caucasian, and reported either very good (26%) or excellent health (43%). It is difficult to determine if this study sample accurately represents the population of Victoria residents who cycle at least once per month due to lack of information on such a specific group of people. The generalizability of the study suffers because the demographic studied is not generalizable to populations in Canadian cities or Census data. The study sample has a mean age of 45.6 (SD = 13.0) compared to Canada's mean age of 40.7.88 The ethnicity of our sample was predominantly Caucasian, at 86% for wave one and 80% for wave two compared to Canada's 72%.⁸⁸ The health status of our sample was predominantly very good or excellent (78% of the sample), which does not represent the nation's average of 59% reporting very good or excellent health.⁸⁹ The sample in this study may be representative of the population of cyclists in Victoria (See Appendix C). However, data on this sub-population is not available. A way to improve upon this limitation is by widening the inclusion criteria. For this study, participants were required to bike at least once a month in the city of Victoria. An attempt to include a greater range of socioeconomic status, ethnicity, and health status could provide a sample with improved external validity.⁹⁰

A second limitation of the study is the data collection period in comparison with the inclusion criteria. The 10-day collection period may have captured zero bicycle days for some participants who met the inclusion criteria (that they previously cycled at least once per month).

Either a more extended data collection period or inclusion criteria that require a greater frequency of cycling could address this limitation.

A third limitation is the Hawthorne Effect, to which no observational study is immune.⁹¹ The Hawthorne effect occurs when a study participant who is being observed acts in a manner that they expect the observers wish to see. In the AAA Cycling Network study, participants were asked to wear a device that collected their physical activity throughout their day. Therefore, it is possible that an individual will be more active while having their physical activity observed than if they were not active at all. The Hawthorne Effect is difficult to control for in any study design due to ethical considerations and the obligation to inform the participants about what they are doing in the study. Blinding or random selection (from mass data collection) are not options in a pre-post natural experiment.

5.4 Contributions

Being a part of team INTERACT has provided me with the opportunity to contribute to the scientific literature in a meaningful way, with evidence backed by a robust natural experiment and research team. My research is necessary because it will assess the impact of the AAA Cycling Network in Victoria on location-based physical activity changes. In collaboration with partners in Victoria and across Canada, this research will provide information about the effectiveness of urban form interventions and their potential for changing physical activity. My analysis will contribute to essential open science products, including code and methodologies available for future research applications. Finally, my research will benefit Canadians with conclusions about addressing current limitations to safe, equitable, and accessible active transportation infrastructure to reduce physical activity barriers in daily life.

5.3 Conclusion

The primary objective of this study was to examine the association between exposure to the AAA Cycling Network and MVPA. The study found that for reasons that required further investigation, the physical activity of participants decreased in wave two compared to wave one. Due to mixed findings in the currently available literature, further studies are needed that address the limitations of current studies. Wave three of the AAA Cycling Network study has the potential to build upon the current study, and current literature because cyclists in Victoria will have adequate time to uptake the use of the new cycling infrastructure. Implementing additional bicycle lanes in the city of Victoria can provide activity spaces for residents to achieve physical activity guidelines as safely as possible.

Bibliography

- Canada G of. Health Status of Canadians 2016: Report of the Chief Public Health Officer
 What is influencing our health? Physical activity.
- 2. Statista. Canada: Degree of Urbanization from 2007 to 2017.
- 3. Colley RC, Butler G, Garriguet D, Prince SA, Roberts KC. Comparison of self-reported and accelerometer-measured physical activity among Canadian youth. *Heal Reports*. 2019;30(7):3-12. doi:10.25318/82-003-x201900700001-eng
- 4. Ding D, Lawson KD, Kolbe-Alexander TL, et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: a global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. *Lancet*. 2016;388(10051):1311-1324. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30383-X
- 5. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major noncommunicable diseases worldwide: An analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9838):219-229. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- 6. Raustorp J, Koglin T. The potential for active commuting by bicycle and its possible effects on public health. *J Transp Heal*. 2019;13(March):72-77. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2019.03.012
- Khan S, Maoh H, Lee C, Anderson W. Toward sustainable urban mobility: Investigating nonwork travel behavior in a sprawled Canadian city. *Int J Sustain Transp.* 2016;10(4):321-331. doi:10.1080/15568318.2014.928838
- 8. Doucette RT, McCulloch MD. Modeling the CO2 emissions from battery electric vehicles given the power generation mixes of different countries. *Energy Policy*. 2011;39(2):803-811. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2010.10.054
- 9. Brown BB, Tharp D, Tribby CP, Smith KR, Miller HJ, Werner CM. Changes in bicycling over time associated with a new bike lane: Relations with kilocalories energy expenditure and body mass index. *J Transp Heal*. 2016;3(3):357-365. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2016.04.001
- Statistics Canada. Commuters using sustainable transportation in census metropolitan areas. November 29, 2017. Accessed September 15, 2019. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016029/98-200x2016029-eng.cfm
- 11. Canada S. Census Profile, 2016 Census.
- 12. Buehler R, Pucher J. Cycling to work in 90 large American cities: New evidence on the role of bike paths and lanes. *Transportation (Amst)*. 2012;39(2):409-432. doi:10.1007/s11116-011-9355-8
- Kärmeniemi M, Lankila L, Ikäheimo T, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Korpelainen R. The Built Environment as a Determinant of Physical Activity: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies and Natural Experiments. *Ann Behav Med.* 2018;52(3). doi:10.1093/ABM/KAX043
- 14. Ogilvie D, Griffin S, Jones A, et al. *Commuting and Health in Cambridge: A Study of a "natural Experiment" in the Provision of New Transport Infrastructure.*; 2010.
- 15. Benton JS, Anderson J, Hunter RF, French DP. The effect of changing the built environment on physical activity: A quantitative review of the risk of bias in natural experiments. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2016;13(1). doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0433-3
- Bennett WL, Wilson RF, Zhang A, et al. Methods for evaluating natural experiments in obesity: A systematic review. *Ann Intern Med.* Published online 2018. doi:10.7326/M18-0309

- 17. Panter J, Heinen E, Mackett R, Ogilvie D. Impact of New Transport Infrastructure on Walking, Cycling, and Physical Activity. *Am J Prev Med.* Published online 2016. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.09.021
- 18. Fairnie GA, Wilby DJR, Saunders LE. Active travel in London: The role of travel survey data in describing population physical activity. *J Transp Heal*. 2016;3(2):161-172. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2016.02.003
- Guell C, Panter J, Jones NR, Ogilvie D. Towards a differentiated understanding of active travel behaviour: Using social theory to explore everyday commuting. *Soc Sci Med*. 2012;75(1):233-239. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.01.038
- 20. Mizdrak A, Blakely T, Cleghorn CL, Cobiac LJ. Potential of active transport to improve health, reduce healthcare costs, and reduce greenhouse gas emissions: A modelling study. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0219316
- 21. Macmillan A, Connor J, Witten K, Kearns R, Rees D, Woodward A. The societal costs and benefits of commuter bicycling: Simulating the effects of specific policies using system dynamics modeling. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2014;122(4):335-344. doi:10.1289/ehp.1307250
- 22. Macmillan AK, Mackie H, Hosking JE, et al. Controlled before-after intervention study of suburb-wide street changes to increase walking and cycling: Te Ara Mua-Future Streets study design. *BMC Public Health*. 2018;18(1). doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5758-1
- 23. Pritchard R, Bucher D, Frøyen Y. Does new bicycle infrastructure result in new or rerouted bicyclists? A longitudinal GPS study in Oslo. *J Transp Geogr.* 2019;77:113-125. doi:10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2019.05.005
- 24. Dill J, McNeil N, Broach J, Ma L. Bicycle boulevards and changes in physical activity and active transportation: Findings from a natural experiment. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2014;69(S):S74-S78. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.10.006
- 25. Heesch KC, James B, Washington TL, Zuniga K, Burke M. Evaluation of the Veloway 1: A natural experiment of new bicycle infrastructure in Brisbane, Australia. *J Transp Heal*. 2016;3(3):366-376. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2016.06.006
- 26. Loprinzi PD. Dose-response association of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity with cardiovascular biomarkers and all-cause mortality: Considerations by individual sports, exercise and recreational physical activities. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2015;81:73-77. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.08.014
- 27. Greenberg R. *Medical Epidemiology Population Health and Effective Health Care*. 5th ed. McGraw-Hill Education LLC; 2015.
- 28. Craig P, Katikireddi V, Leyland A, Popham F. Natural Experiments: An Overview of Methods, Approaches, and Contributions to Public Health Intervention Research. Published online 2017. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth
- 29. Kestens Y, Winters M, Fuller D, et al. INTERACT: A comprehensive approach to assess urban form interventions through natural experiments. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):51. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-6339-z
- 30. Dill J. Bicycling for Transportation and Health: The Role of Infrastructure. Vol 30.; 2009.
- Heesch KC, Langdon M. The usefulness of GPS bicycle tracking data for evaluating the impact of infrastructure change on cycling behaviour. *Heal Promot J Aust.* 2016;27(3):222-229. doi:10.1071/HE16032
- 32. Strava.
- 33. Durand CP, Andalib M, Dunton GF, Wolch J, Pentz MA. A systematic review of built

environment factors related to physical activity and obesity risk: Implications for smart growth urban planning. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(5). doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00826.x

- 34. Team INTERACT. Agence web.
- Winters M, Branion-Calles M, Therrien S, et al. Impacts of Bicycle Infrastructure in Mid-Sized Cities (IBIMS): Protocol for a natural experiment study in three Canadian cities. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8(1). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019130
- 36. Loucks-Atkinson A, Rohr LE. *EXPLORING BIOSPYCHOSOCIAL FACTORS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY ADHERENCE AMONG OLDER ADULTS.*
- 37. Goodman A, Sahlqvist S, Ogilvie D. New walking and cycling routes and increased physical activity: One- and 2-year findings from the UK iConnect study. *Am J Public Health*. 2014;104(9). doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302059
- 38. Götschi T, Garrard J, Giles-Corti B. Cycling as a Part of Daily Life: A Review of Health Perspectives. *Transp Rev.* 2016;36(1):45-71. doi:10.1080/01441647.2015.1057877
- 39. Mueller N, Rojas-Rueda D, Cole-Hunter T, et al. Health impact assessment of active transportation: A systematic review. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2015;76:103-114. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.04.010
- 40. Cavill N, Kahlmeier S, Rutter H, Racioppi F, Oja P. Economic analyses of transport infrastructure and policies including health effects related to cycling and walking: A systematic review. *Transp Policy*. 2008;15(5):291-304. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2008.11.001
- 41. TransLink. *Regional Trip Diary*. South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority; 2011.
- 42. Pucher J, Dijkstra L. Promoting safe walking and cycling to improve public health: Lessons from the Netherlands and Germany. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(9):1509-1516.
- 43. Bassett DR, Pucher J, Buehler R, Thompson DL, Crouter SE. Walking, Cycling, and Obesity Rates in Europe, North America, and Australia. *J Phys Act Heal*. 2008;5(6):795-814.
- 44. Marshall WE, Ferenchak NN. Why cities with high bicycling rates are safer for all road users. *J Transp Heal*. 2019;13(March):100539. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2019.03.004
- 45. Zhu J, Fan Y. Daily travel behavior and emotional well-being: Effects of trip mode, duration, purpose, and companionship. *Transp Res Part A Policy Pract.* 2018;118(September):360-373. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2018.09.019
- 46. Khandagale S, Agrawal R, Barthwal MS, Salvi D. A Randomized Control Trial of Treatment of Bronchial Asthma with Inhaled Salbutamol Combined with Pursed Lip Breathing. *Indian J Physiother Occup Ther - An Int J.* 2014;8(1):215. doi:10.5958/j.0973-5674.8.1.041
- 47. Buehler R, Pucher J, Merom D, Bauman A. Active travel in Germany and the U.S.: Contributions of daily walking and cycling to physical activity. *Am J Prev Med*. 2011;41(3):241-250. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.04.012
- 48. Handy S, van Wee B, Kroesen M. Promoting Cycling for Transport: Research Needs and Challenges. *Transp Rev.* 2014;34(1):4-24. doi:10.1080/01441647.2013.860204
- Winters M, Teschke K. Route Preferences Among Adults in the Near Market for Bicycling: Findings of the Cycling in Cities Study. *Am J Heal Promot.* 2010;25(1):40-47. doi:DOI 10.4278/ajhp.081006-QUAN-236
- 50. Teschke K, Harris MA, Reynolds CC, et al. Route infrastructure and the risk of injuries to bicyclists- a case-crossover study. *Am J Public Heal*. Published online 2012.
- 51. Wikipedia. Difference in differences.

- 52. Pober DM, Staudenmayer JW, Raphael C, Freedson PS. Development of Novel Techniques to Classify Physical Activity Mode Using Accelerometers. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2006;38(9):1626-1634. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000227542.43669.45
- 53. Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, et al. Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. *Sport Med.* 2017;47(9):1821-1845. doi:10.1007/s40279-017-0716-0
- 54. Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30(5):777-781. doi:10.1097/00005768-199805000-00021
- 55. Shen L, Stopher PR. Review of GPS Travel Survey and GPS Data-Processing Methods. *Transp Rev.* 2014;34(3):316-334. doi:10.1080/01441647.2014.903530
- 56. Duncan MJ, Badland HM, Mummery WK. Applying GPS to enhance understanding of transport-related physical activity. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2009;12(5):549-556. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2008.10.010
- 57. Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Matthews SA, et al. Activity space environment and dietary and physical activity behaviors: A pilot study. *Heal Place*. 2011;17(5):1150-1161. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.05.001
- 58. Sağbaş EA, Ballı S. Transportation mode detection by using smartphone sensors and machine learning. *Pamukkale Univ J Eng Sci*. Published online 2016. doi:10.5505/pajes.2015.63308
- 59. Reddy S, Mun M, Burke J, Estrin D, Hansen M, Srivastava M. Using mobile phones to determine transportation modes. *ACM Trans Sens Networks*. 2010;6(2). doi:10.1145/1689239.1689243
- Knapen L, Bellemans T, Janssens D, Wets G. Likelihood-based offline map matching of GPS recordings using global trace information. *Transp Res Part C Emerg Technol*. 2018;93:13-35. doi:10.1016/j.trc.2018.05.014
- 61. Department E. City of Victoria: Cycling.
- 62. The SenseDoc. MOBYSENS.
- 63. INTERACT. Team INTERACT Tools.
- 64. Ethica Data. Published 2020. Accessed November 5, 2020. https://ethicadata.com/
- 65. Wu L, Yang B, Jing P. Travel mode detection based on GPS raw data collected by smartphones: A systematic review of the existing methodologies. *Inf.* 2016;7(4). doi:10.3390/info7040067
- 66. Kostencka A, Pastuszak A, Buśko K. Determining the level of physical activity estimated by the Canada Fitness Survey questionnaire using criteria of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire. *Biomed Hum Kinet*. 2016;8(1):131-136. doi:10.1515/bhk-2016-0019
- 67. Hernán MA. The C-Word: Scientific Euphemisms Do Not Improve Causal Inference From Observational Data. *Am J Public Health*. 2018;108(5):616-619. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2018.304337
- 68. Bort-Roig J, Gilson ND, Puig-Ribera A, Contreras RS, Trost SG. Measuring and influencing physical activity with smartphone technology: A systematic review. *Sport Med*. 2014;44(5):671-686. doi:10.1007/s40279-014-0142-5
- 69. Lee K, Kwan M-P. The Effects of GPS-Based Buffer Size on the Association between Travel Modes and Environmental Contexts. *ISPRS Int J Geo-Information*.

2019;8(11):514. doi:10.3390/ijgi8110514

- 70. Fuller D, Winters M. Income inequalities in Bike Score and bicycling to work in Canada. *J Transp Heal*. 2017;7. doi:10.1016/j.jth.2017.09.005
- 71. Branion-Calles M, Nelson T, Fuller D, Gauvin L, Winters M. Associations between individual characteristics, availability of bicycle infrastructure, and city-wide safety perceptions of bicycling: A cross-sectional survey of bicyclists in 6 Canadian and U.S. cities. *Transp Res Part A Policy Pract*. 2019;123. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2018.10.024
- 72. Shephard R, Editors C-L. Springer Series on Epidemiology and Public Health The Objective Monitoring of Physical Activity: Contributions of Accelerometry to Epidemiology, Exercise Science and Rehabilitation.
- 73. Jager KJ, Zoccali C, MacLeod A, Dekker FW. Confounding: What it is and how to deal with it. *Kidney Int*. 2008;73(3):256-260. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002650
- 74. Yerrakalva D, Mullis R, Mant J. The associations of fatness, fitness, and physical activity with all-cause mortality in older adults: A systematic review. *Obesity*. 2015;23(10):1944-1956. doi:10.1002/oby.21181
- 75. Grolemund G. R studio support: Recommended Packages.
- 76. Marwick B, Boettiger C, Mullen L. Packaging Data Analytical Work Reproducibly Using R (and Friends). *Am Stat.* 2018;72(1):80-88. doi:10.1080/00031305.2017.1375986
- 77. Field AP. *Discovering Statistics Using R*. (Miles J, Field Z, eds.). Los Angeles : Sage; 2012.
- 78. Team INTERACT GitHub.
- 79. Brond JC, Andersen LB, Arvidsson D. Generating ActiGraph Counts from Raw Acceleration Recorded by an Alternative Monitor. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2017;49(11):2351-2360. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001344
- Choi L, Ward SC, Schnelle JF, Buchowski MS. Assessment of wear/nonwear time classification algorithms for triaxial accelerometer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2012;44(10):2009-2016. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e318258cb36
- Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Dodd KW, Masse LC, Tilert T, Mcdowell M. Physical Activity in the United States Measured by Accelerometer. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2008;40(1):181-188. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3
- 82. Vanhelst J, Vidal F, Drumez E, et al. Comparison and validation of accelerometer wear time and non-wear time algorithms for assessing physical activity levels in children and adolescents. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2019;19(1). doi:10.1186/s12874-019-0712-1
- 83. Keadle SK, Shiroma EJ, Freedson PS, Lee IM. Impact of accelerometer data processing decisions on the sample size, wear time and physical activity level of a large cohort study. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1210
- 84. Norwood P, Eberth B, Farrar S, Anable J, Ludbrook A. Active travel intervention and physical activity behaviour: An evaluation. *Soc Sci Med*. 2014;113:50-58. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.05.003
- 85. Zhu L, Gonder J, Lin L. Prediction of individual social-demographic role based on travel behavior variability using long-term GPS data. *J Adv Transp*. Published online 2017. doi:10.1155/2017/7290248
- Roy A, Fuller D, Stanley K, Nelson T. Classifying Transport Mode from Global Positioning Systems and Accelerometer Data: A Machine Learning Approach. *Findings*. Published online 2020:1-8. doi:10.32866/001c.14520
- 87. Ho CP, Parpas P. Multilevel Optimization Methods: Convergence and Problem Structure.;

2016.

- 88. Can S. Analysis: Population by age and sex.
- 89. Belhadj B, Kaabi F. Public Health Status 2016.
- 90. Wasfi R, Poirier Stephens Z, Sones M, et al. Recruiting Participants for Population Health Intervention Research: Effectiveness and Costs of Recruitment Methods for the INTErventions, Research, and Action in Cities Team (INTERACT) study. *J Med Internet Res.* 21142.
- 91. Paradis E, Sutkin G. Beyond a good story: From Hawthorne Effect to reactivity in health professions education research. *Med Educ*. 2017;51(1):31-39. doi:10.1111/medu.13122

Appendix A: Research Ethics Certification



Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

St. John's, NL. Canada AJC 557 Tel: 709 864-2561. icehn@mun.ca www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr

ICEHR Number:	20211696-HK
Approval Period:	April 15, 2021 - April 30, 2022
Funding Source:	
Responsible Faculty:	Dr. Daniel Fuller School of Human Kinetics and Recreation
Title of Project:	Examining the association between cycling infrastructure exposure and cycling engagement: Wave two natural experiment results from INTERACT Victoria

April 15, 2021

Mr. Jonathan Slaney School of Human Kinetics and Recreation Memorial University of Newfoundland

Dear Mr. Slaney:

Thank you for your submission to the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR), seeking ethical clearance for your research project. The Committee appreciates the care and diligence with which you prepared your application. The project is consistent with the guidelines of the *Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans* (TCPS2). *Full ethics clearance* is granted for <u>one year</u> from the date of this letter. ICEHR approval applies to the ethical acceptability of the research, as per Article 6.3 of the *TCPS2*. Researchers are responsible for adherence to any other relevant University policies and/or funded or non-funded agreements that may be associated with the project.

The TCPS2 requires that you submit an <u>Annual Update</u> to ICEHR before <u>April 30, 2022</u>. If you plan to continue the project, you need to request renewal of your ethics clearance and include a brief summary on the progress of your research. When the project no longer involves contact with human participants, is completed and/or terminated, you are required to provide an annual update with a brief final summary and your file will be closed. If you need to make changes during the project which may raise ethical concerns, you must submit an <u>Amendment Request</u> with a description of these changes for the Committee's consideration. If funding is obtained subsequent to ethics approval, you must submit a <u>Funding and/or Partner Change Request</u> to ICEHR so that this ethics clearance can be linked to your award.

All post-approval event forms noted above must be submitted by selecting the *Applications: Post-Review* link on your Researcher Portal homepage. We wish you success with your research.

Yours sincerely,

Russell J. Adams, Ph.D. Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research Professor of Psychology and Pediatrics Faculties of Science and Medicine

RA/bc

copy: Supervisor - Dr. Daniel Fuller, School of Human Kinetics and Recreation

Appendix B: Survey Questions for assessing confounding

In the confounding factors section of this proposal, I identified several potential variables,

including age, gender, ethnicity, income, and usual physical activity.

INTERACT Eligibility Survey:

Age:

1. What is your birth date?

DD/MM/YYYY

Gender:

- 2. How do you describe yourself?
- 1 Male
- 2 Female
- 3 Trans
- 4 Other

INTERACT Main Online Questionnaire:

Ethnicity:

- 3. To which ethnic or cultural groups did your ancestors belong? (Check all that apply)
- 1 Aboriginal
- 2 Asian
- 3 Black
- 4 Caucasian
- 5 Latin American
- 6 Middle Eastern
- 77 I don't know/Prefer not to answer

Income:

- 4. Which category best describes your annual household income, taking into account all sources of income?
- 1 No income
- 2 \$1 to \$9,999
- 3 \$10,000 to \$14,999

- 4 \$15,000 to \$19,999
- 5 \$20,000 to \$29,999
- 6 \$30,000 to \$39,999
- 7 \$40,000 to \$49,999
- 8 \$50,000 to \$99,999
- 9 \$100,000 to \$149,999
- 10 \$150,000 to \$199,999
- 11 \$200,000 or more
- 77 I don't know/Prefer not to answer
- 5. To what extent does this annual family income allow you to satisfy your household's needs?
- 1 Very well
- 2 Decently
- 3 Not so well
- 4 Not at all
- 77 I don't know/Prefer not to answer

Usual Physical Activity:

Part 1: Job-Related Physical Activity

The next questions are about all the physical activity you did in the last 7 days as part of your paid or unpaid work. Do not include unpaid work you might do around your home, like housework, yard work, general maintenance, and caring for your family.

6. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities as part of your work?

Range 1-7Days per week0No vigorous job-related physical activity

7. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing vigorous physical activities as part of your work?

Range 0-16 Hours per day

Range 0-60Minutes per day

Part 2: Transportation

These questions are about how you traveled from place to place, including to places like work, stores, movies, and so on.

8. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you travel in a motor vehicle like a train, bus, car, or tram?

Range 1-7	Days per week
0	No traveling in a motor vehicle

9. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days traveling in a train, bus, car, tram, or other kind of motor vehicle?

Range 0-16	Hours per day
Range 0-60	Minutes per day

Now think only about the bicycling and walking you might have done to travel to and from work, to do errands, or to go from place to place.

10. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you bicycle for at least 10 minutes at a time to go from place to place?

Range 1-7	Days per week
0	No bicycling from place to place

11. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days to bicycle from place to place?

Range 0-16	Hours per day
Range 0-60	Minutes per day

12. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time to go from place to place?

Range 1-7	Days per week
0	No walking from place to place

13. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days walking from place to place?

Range 0-16	Hours per day	
Range 0-60	Minutes per day	

Part 3: Recreation, Sport and Leisure-Time Physical Activity

This section is about all the physical activities that you did in the last 7 days solely for recreation, sport, exercise, or leisure. Please do not include any activities you have already mentioned.

14. Not counting any walking for transportation that you have already mentioned, during the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time in your leisure time?

Range 1-7Days per week

- 0 No walking in leisure time
- 15. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days walking in your leisure time?

Range 0-16Hours per dayRange 0-60Minutes per day

16. Think about only those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time, not counting any activity for transportation that you have already mentioned. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities like aerobics, running, fast bicycling, or fast swimming in your leisure time?

Range 1-7	Days per week
0	No vigorous activity in leisure times

17. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing vigorous physical activities in your leisure time?

Range 0-16	Hours per day
Range 0-60	Minutes per day

18. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do moderate physical activities like bicycling at a regular pace, swimming at a regular pace, and doubles tennis in your leisure time?

Range 1-7	Days per week
0	moderate activity in leisure time

19. How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities in your leisure time?

Range 0-16Hours per dayRange 0-60Minutes per day

	Victoria n (%)	Victoria Census %
Age		
15-19 years	0 (0%)	5
20-29 years	46 (20%)	13.2
30-39 years	79 (34.3%)	12.8
40-49 years	60 (26.1%)	12.4
50-64 years	26 (11.3%)	22.4
65 and older	19 (8.3%)	21.1
Gender		
Man	131 (46.6%)	-
Woman	146 (51.9%)	-
Trans Man/Woman	4 (1.4%)	-
Genderqueer	0 (0%)	-
Income		
\$0-\$19,999	10 (3.6%)	10.2
\$20,000-\$49,999	36 (12.8%)	24.5
\$50,000-\$99,999	107 (38.1%)	33.5
\$100,000-\$200,000	99 (35.2%)	26.1
\$200,000 and greater	9 (3.2%)	5.8
Prefer not to answer	20 (7.1%)	
Education		
Primary/Elementary	0 (0%)	7.3
Secondary	42 (15.3%)	24.8
Trade/Technical	107 (39.1%)	31.2
University degree	125 (45.6%)	33.8
Graduate degree	0 (0%)	2.1
Prefer not to answer	2 (0.73%)	
Ethnic Groups*		
White	251 (86.9%)	83.6
Asian	19 (6.6%)	10.8
Black	0 (0%)	0.9
Latin American	4 (1.4%)	0.7
Middle Eastern	1 (0.3%)	0.7
Indigenous	4 (1.4%)	6
Ethnic group not included above	0 (0%)	

Appendix C: Comparison between city samples and 2016 Canadian Census data on selected socio-demographic characteristics.

* Participants were able to report multiple ethnic identities, therefore the sum of ethnicities exceeds 100% for each city, as each ethnic group represents people who identify alone or in combination with another ethnicity.